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COMMISSIONER:  Good morning, Mr Tait – Dr Tait, not quite sure?  Mr, thank you, not quite 

sure how to attribute – I should look more closely at the CVs, I suppose.  Would you like to 

come and take a seat in the front?  I understand – Mr Hathorn or is you or Mr Bishop who is 

going to be leading Mr Tait? 

MR HATHORN:   It’s Mr Bishop. 

MR BISHOP:   It’s me, Commissioner. 

COMMISSIONER:   I understand you’ve been allocated 35 minutes in-chief, is that 

manageable? 

MR BISHOP:   That should be fine, Commissioner. 

COMMISSIONER:   So that’s very generous of you, I’m sure you don’t actually think that but 

we are under a lot of pressure today. 

MR BISHOP:   I understand, Commissioner. 

COMMISSIONER:   Okay.  So Mr Arendse did you hear that the arrangement the evidence 

leaders have made is that we will start with Mr Tait, go until approximately half past ten or 

there.  Or no, 35 minutes and then 20 minutes and then 20 minutes,  

that was I understood from Ms Bawa and then we’ll move on to Mr Swart.  So that’s adequate.   

 Welcome, Mr Tait, thank you very much indeed for the report that you’ve tendered to 

the Commission.  You’re aware that these proceedings were in public and that your evidence 

and name may be public both in the media and through the Commission’s report? 

MR TAIT:   No, I agree, thanks. 

COMMISSIONER:   Do you have any objections to taking the oath? 

SEAN TAIT:   (Sworn states) 

COMMISSIONER:   And the acoustics in here are pretty weak so you might find it helpful to 

use the...  Mr Bishop? 

EXAMINATION BY MR BISHOP:   Thank you, Commissioner.  Morning, Mr Tait.  You’ve 

provided a CV to the Commission.   Are the earphones working? 

MR TAIT:   Let me just check? 

MR BISHOP:   Channel 3, I think. 

MR TAIT:   Thanks they work. 

MR BISHOP:   Can you hear me clearly now? 

MR TAIT:   Yes. 



MR BISHOP:   Okay, great.  You’ve provided a CV to the Commission, can you confirm that 

the contents of that CV are correct? 

MR TAIT:   Yes. 

MR BISHOP:   And you’re coordinator of the African Police Civilian Oversight Forum, is that 

correct? 

MR TAIT:   That is correct. 

MR BISHOP:   Mr Tait, I would like to begin by asking you about community policing.  Can you 

just describe in your understanding what is community policing? 

MR TAIT:   Okay, I’d like to start by reflecting on the transformation that the South Africa Police 

Service has gone through from 1994 and in that locate community policing as one of the key 

processes to reform policing from the South Africa Police Force to the South Africa Police 

Service.  What it has done has been to relocate policing within communities and create the 

opportunity  for a consensus and a joint approach to understanding what makes us safe and 

what makes us unsafe and how do we respond to that as police and in that sense I think it’s an 

integral part of what policing should be and is in South Africa today. 

MR BISHOP:   Would you say that – is that community policing something police should do in 

addition to the work that they normally do or is something deeper than that? 

MR TAIT:   I think it’s far deeper, I think it must underline the values of policing in South Africa, 

so it’s not something you do in addition to any of the other functions, it must inform all your 

functions.  So whether you’re doing resource allocation, whether you’re doing visible policing, 

whether you are investigating, detecting crimes, all of that must be informed from within the 

philosophy and the paradigm of community policing. 

MR BISHOP:   So it’s a philosophy that the police should adopt to all their work? 

MR TAIT:   Ja and it should inform all their operations and how they approach the business of 

policing. 

MR BISHOP:   And how does the sector policing fit, what is the relationship between sector 

policing and community policing? 

MR TAIT:   Community policing is not an easy process to operationalise because it requires 

this ongoing conversation with your stakeholders in your community and your clientele and in 

that the police need to reflect on how they’re doing business and how they take policing to a 

community level and make communities true owners of policing.   

 There have been various approaches around how we do that and the Community Police 

Forum in terms of that space where we can have that dialogue is one but around the 

operationalisation from policing perspective of the philosophy of community policing, sector 

policing was introduced to – I think to do things 

One, to look at the precinct in more manageable components and say well, if the 

complexity and challenge over a large area is such that it would be better to try and break that 

down and work on particular blocks and sectors then that would be – that would add traction 

and benefit to implementing community policing.   

 It also provides an opportunity then for resourcing within the police station area in the 



precinct to be evolved down to that sector level so that idea is that offices would be made 

available to sectors, build up that relationship, resources would be allocated to those sectors, 

more detailed understanding of the sector, the smaller unit within that precinct would be built, 

the threats, the challenges, the assets within those sectors would be identified and you would 

be able to take forward the business of community policing at a far more intimate and local 

level. 

 And so there’s a synergy between them and in my understanding I see it as an attempt 

by the South Africa Police Service to implement community policing. 

MR BISHOP:   You heard Dr Burger testify yesterday and he spoke about how some time in 

the past that the SAPS’ conception of sector policing had at times been more a means of sort 

of operationalising ordinary policing work rather than community policing as a philosophy.  Can 

you speak about whether you think his understanding of how SAPS is with the sector policing 

is accurate and whether – how that fits in with your understanding of what sector policing 

should be? 

MR TAIT:   I think – and in an attempt to answer that question it relates to the extent to which 

the police have really sought and tried to internalise what it means to operate from a 

community policing paradigm and in – if you approach it from what could be loosely 

determined to like operational policing then you can pick up potentially a tension between 

deploying operational resources to a sector and going about the business of policing without 

fully embracing a community policing philosophy and a value system and so you can make 

personnel available, you can make vehicle available to a particular sector with – potentially 

without embracing the opportunity to build back consensus in that partnership with the 

community. 

MR BISHOP:   And in your experience, both generally and to the extent you have experience 

in Khayelitsha from looking at the evidence, and is it your experience that that’s the way that 

SAPS has approached sector policing as sort of a means to the operational policing? 

MR TAIT:   Well, having looked at some of the sector plans, one of the gaps that appears to 

me is that the role of the sector forum and the extent to which the partnership being police and 

community have identified the challenges within that sector and developed a joint approach to 

try and deal with them is missing and so a lot of the sector plans reflect the allocation of a 

sector commander, the allocation of some resources and the development of a list of what the 

particular assets are in that community, how many schools there are, what the threats are, how 

many unlicensed and illegal taverns or shebeens there are but there’s very little indication of 

saying well, what are we going to be doing about this and so it lends itself to being quite one 

dimensional in the sense of a true kind of coalescence between community and police around 

how do we improve safety within this area. 

MR BISHOP:   I want to come back to those sector plans but can you just talk quickly – I 

mean, what should be the role of the sector forum, what should it be doing? 

MR TAIT:   In my opinion it should be – first of all it should be composed and to as far as 

possible representative of the community within that sector, so the business community, the 



religious community, school bodies, civic organisations, development organisations, etcetera, 

with participation and a stake within that sector need to be involved. 

 There needs to be a dialogue between that sector forum and the SAPS representation 

on that sector forum through the sector commanders to understanding what are the concerns 

and priorities of that sector and how are we going to be responding to that. 

MR BISHOP:   And then should the sector profile or sector plan reflect exactly what you just 

spoke about, what the challenges are and most importantly how you’re going to respond to 

those challenges? 

MR TAIT:   Ja, I would think so and I think many of them, if not all, fall short at being able to 

identify what are going to be doing about it. 

MR BISHOP:   I mean the sector plans have been given, they’ve got this list of all the relevant 

organisations, as mentioned, I mean what is it that it should contain, can you give an example 

sort of what else should be in that, that plan? 

MR TAIT:   There should be an understanding of what the particular concerns and challenges 

are of that, of that sector.  There should be some decision on prioritising what it is that we’re 

going to be doing about that.  That priority should be turned into some clear set goals and 

activities and there should be an ongoing engagement within the construction of policing that 

area around how those goals are being met and the challenges that come up are being 

resolved.   So that strategic plan component seems absent from the sector profiles. 

MR BISHOP:   And what are the consequences for sector policing in Khayelitsha if those plans 

don’t have that sort of engagement? 

MR TAIT:   I think you must a huge opportunity  of being able to take that philosophy of 

community policing down to the sector level, so you have a better understanding potentially 

from a police perspective of what that sector looks like, where the hotspots are, where kind of 

the activity or the illegal activities are taking place, what the assets are, what we should be 

potentially looking out for, but it’s not creating the opportunity of the conversation with the 

community stakeholders around these particular challenges, how we’re addressing and the 

results that we are achieving and the community involvement in being able to resolve some of 

the challenges in terms of implementation. 

MR BISHOP:   Would it be fair to say that the absence of that sort of planning and analysis 

affects both the efficiency of policing and the relationship between the policing community? 

MR TAIT:   I think it affects the relationship and if you approach it, as I do, that community 

policing is an integral part of policing then there is an inefficiency in the sense of not being able 

to fully operationalise and embrace community policing. 

MR BISHOP:   Can you just talk briefly – I mean what should be the relationship both in terms 

of personnel and activities between the sector forum and the Community Police Forum? 

MR TAIT:   At the moment the provision is that the sector commanders serve on the 

Community Police Forum.  I think that that relationship can be further developed, I think that 

there’s opportunity for the sector forums, the community representation to be represented 

more clearly in the Community Police Forum and I think that the relationship between the 



Community Police Forum and the sector forum can be further developed.  If we are going to 

potentially look at the sector forums developing safety plans for that particular sector 

addressing those needs and priorities as they appear in the sector there’s no reason why that 

can’t become an integral part of what the safety plan strategy is for a Community Police Forum 

and that that relationship then really serves to take the spirit of community policing down to a 

more local level. 

 At the moment the – I don’t think that relationship is defined clearly enough and I think 

there can be far more synergy between sector forums and Community Police Forum. 

MR BISHOP:   And on a sort of practical level how do you think that synergy could be 

achieved? 

MR TAIT:   If – I think there’s a – you can look at it at a process level in the sense that the 

representation on a Community Police Forum can clearly make provision for representation 

from sector forums and you can look at it at a business level so that the sector plans, that 

understanding of what are the assets and liabilities of that sector are reflected in a Community 

Police Forum plan and that the process going forward in terms of addressing those challenges 

focusing policing resources can be operationalised at a sector level and that communication in 

terms of what is happening at sector level can be fed up to a Community Police Forum and 

vice versa. I creates the opportunity  for far more representation, far more involvement in the 

business of community policing. 

MR BISHOP:   Just a look at the CPFs quickly, what in your experience and from looking at the 

evidence for the Commission are some of the major challenges, to use that word, that the 

CPFs face? 

MR TAIT:   Well again it’s looking at – and maybe to answer it from where I think some of the 

limitations in weaker areas are in community policing I think we need to make far more of an 

effort in terms of representivity on Community Police Forums and there I think - you know, at 

one level the Community Police Forum structure provides for persons expressing an interest to 

serve on the Community Police Forum, and election kind of appointment of an executive who 

takes that business forward.   

 To a certain extent that works, to a certain extent it doesn’t work in the sense that there 

are many other stakeholders within a community who have interest, who have expertise, who 

have value to add to community policing and we need to find ways in which we can involve 

them and often that’s not through the process of an executive.   

 I think the administration of Community Police Forum is critical.  If you’re looking at the 

complexity of identifying the challenges and the consensus around how we meet those 

challenges implementing it over what we know is going to be years around achieving results in 

areas that traverse many different disciplines in government departments, how we keep that 

communication on track, how we keep people informed, how we’re able to measure our 

progress is a – it’s a difficult and complicated and complex job and that needs to be formed by 

a secretariat that is able to take that forward and so there’s a capacity issue and there’s a 

resourcing issue around the secretariat, it’s not easy, it’s not cheap but without that core 



administrative support it’s not going to work and then I think there’s …(intervention) 

COMMISSIONER:   May I just interrupt you?  What do you mean by secretariat? 

MR TAIT:   The function of keeping the Community Police Forum alive and functional. 

COMMISSIONER:   Are you talking about sort of the – at each Community Police Forum level 

the people who are involved in dealing with the communication liaison administration?  

MR TAIT:   Yes, the extent to that the business of a Community Police Forum is going to 

develop over time, there needs to be a written record of that, that records needs to be 

communicated to stakeholders that may or may not be present at particular meetings, it needs 

to provide sufficient detail for people to understand what is happening, where the challenges 

are and how they’re being resolved, it’s not all going to happen within a monthly forum 

meeting, there are going to be sub projects that emerge that need to be recorded and need to 

be fed into the business and being able to manage that together with the stakeholder database 

around who is participating, who is not participating, who we need to bring on board together 

with communication and outreach is a considerable administrative job and so the secretariat 

concept is that administration which keeps it together. 

COMMISSIONER:   At the moment there’s no capacitation for that at all? 

MR TAIT:   No, I think that capacitation is very weak so what we do have are person taking 

minutes of the Community Police Forum meeting, rudimentary database of stakeholders, often 

sort of ad hoc distribution of those minutes, agendas that are not prepared in time, agendas 

that don’t give direction in terms of the meeting what needs to be done and who is being 

tasked and …(intervention) 

COMMISSIONER:   Relatively infrequent meetings in some circumstances as well? 

MR TAIT:   Sorry? 

COMMISSIONER:   Relatively infrequent meetings in some circumstances as well? 

MR TAIT:   Some circumstances infrequent meetings. 

COMMISSIONER:    I mean, some of the academic research to which the Commission has 

been pointed, you know, indicates that actually the CPFs have not been – countrywide not 

been a great success and I wonder whether some of the difficulties that are faced in 

Khayelitsha with CPFs are systemic, are structural in the way in which the CPF system is 

constructed particularly in the relationship between CPFs and SAPS and ht apparent lack of, 

you know, any clear source of CPFs in the way they’re designed in the SAPS Act.  And also I 

wondered whether there isn’t a sort of class bias in the system which makes it particularly 

difficult in an area where many people are unemployed, have no spare resources for managing 

meetings and systems and so on.  Do you have any comments? 

MR TAIT:   Well, I’ll just go back to the point that I made earlier is that I think community 

policing is an integral part of policing and that it should be resourced as any other part of  

policing.  So if we’re putting vehicles in there, if we’re putting bullet proof vests in there we 

need to put in the facilities that would make community policing work and unfortunately when 

you’re looking at a coming together of various stakeholders who have many different interests 

and often doing this in their spare time unless they’re supported and being able to take that – 



can almost say that governance of policing forward, it’s not going to work. 

COMMISSIONER:   But it doesn’t have to be through the - community policing doesn’t need 

the Community Police Forum in its current format, I mean, there could be a range of different 

ways in which you could involve – you could make policing responsive to the neighbourhood 

that’s being policed, it doesn’t have to be – it could be through local government, through the 

Community Safety Forum idea, you know, there could be a range of different ways of dealing 

with it or do you think the Community Police Forum is in fact the obvious model and the one 

should be pursuing because it’s here? 

MR TAIT:   The Community Police Forum is provided for in the Police Act so it’s there, it is a 

legislated mechanism to take forward this approach.  There are many ways in which you can 

build relationship and you can insure that policing is relevant to the community but if you want 

to – if you want to build a consensus, if you want to make sure that your policing is equitable 

across that community, all various sectors and stakeholders are benefiting in the same way 

from policing, challenges are being addressed that may not be within the ambit of the police 

then you need a space where those stakeholders come together, where those priorities are 

identified and we’re able to take that forward. 

COMMISSIONER:   Ja, I mean I accept …(intervention) 

MR TAIT:   And that requires …(intervention) 

COMMISSIONER:   Some sort of forum, I accept that, but one of the things that bothers me 

about the design, for example, and also just hearing the station commanders talk about it, it’s 

quite a burden for the station commanders to be responsible for basically ensuring that the 

community police forum exists and that there are members on it and so on and the fact that 

they have to do that also doesn’t seem to me to be creating the right relationship between the 

station commander and the Community Police Forum because in a sense they’re a project of 

the station commander and that doesn’t ideal, it’s a burden for the station commander, it 

reminded me of what Dr Burger was saying yesterday in the sense you’re really making the 

police do everything.  What are you comments on that.  You know, it may not be – we’re trying 

to understand why CPFs have not been very functional here and I’m trying to understand 

whether it is in fact systemic and structural or whether it is just a resourcing issue which is, you 

know, one of the possibilities. 

MR TAIT:   I think certainly that onus for establishing, maintaining and managing a Community 

Police Forum could be located outside of the SAPS and I think facilities like the civilian 

secretariat potentially lend themselves to that.  I think it’s provided for in the Act to ensure that 

police participate and engage with the Community Police Forum but there are limitations and 

we’ve seen it around how effectively they function to the police taking full ownership of and 

ensuring that a Community Police Forum is functional and resourced. 

MR PIKOLI:   Can you just help by to resolve this inherent tension that’s introduced by Section 

18(1)(e) of SAPS Act that refers to the objects of the CPFs being to improve transparency in 

the service as well as the question of accountability of the police in the community. That seems 

to introduce some element of tension and again the CPF’s being dependent on resources that 



they are supposed to get also from the police, how do we resolve that? 

MR TAIT:   Okay, I mean there are two parts to my answer.  The first is that I think that the role 

of the Community Police Forum to establish a consensus and a priority around what needs to 

be policed and how we make this precinct lends itself to a conversation down the road as to 

how effective we are and whether we’re achieving our objectives and so the partnership 

around what it is that we need to do and how we’re doing that coexist and so that although 

there’s an inherent tension it doesn’t mean that the accountability issue is removed from the 

equation and I think the initial thinking around Community Police Forums was that the 

accountability component would be far stronger that we would be looking at how effectively 

we’re doing our job and how we’re addressing issues which are unacceptable, for example, 

drinking on duty or misconduct to the extent to which police are responding.  I think those are 

legitimate questions that the CPF can ask. 

 In terms of the historic development, there was a lot of emphasis placed on building the 

relationship and that relationship as we translated it into activities became partnerships around 

crime prevention awareness raising days and the conversations on accountability on 

performance really create a tension between the extent to which we enjoyed the partnership or 

enjoyed the awareness raising and the extent to which we were able to ask the difficult 

questions and in that resourcing environment where we were dependent so much on police 

goodwill for the Community Police Forum to function, this became very difficult conversations. 

MR PIKOLI:   It’s well and good to speak of joint problematic vacation and joint problem solving 

but the read is that – or the basis of the evidence that we’ve had in phase one, this does not 

seem to be always in place.  For instance, when it comes to the identification of hotspots, the 

police would have one idea whilst members of the community have got another idea for the 

hotspots. 

MR TAIT:   Ja.  And ultimately that needs to be resolved, policing is in service of the 

community and there’s value and validity in community perception of what is making us unsafe 

and how we should be responding to that and that’s – if there is divergence or disagreement 

around what those priorities are then it is the space of the Community Police Forum to be able 

to resolve that and to build that consensus otherwise you do end up in a situation where you 

perceive a breakdown in relationships and police doing one thing whereas the need is in 

completely different area. 

COMMISSIONER:   One of the things that worries me is the short of the chicken and egg 

argument or issue is that it’s seems to me that the model of CPFs expects and open 

cooperative partnership culture inside SAPS which I think is, you know, not readily apparent 

and so therefore if the culture inside SAPS is one of we’re the experts in policing and you are 

the police that informs the relationship inside CPFs and if look at how the CPFs we’ve seen 

here work, the idea that they would produce an annual safety plan seems very secondary and 

unlikely to impact on what the police to do and it’s fostered by this notion that in fact it is the 

station commander who decides effectively who constitutes the – or sets up the Community 

Police Forum.  So if what one needs to do is try to build a slightly more partnership oriented 



culture in SAPS it’s a chicken and egg, I mean you’re going to create – in the CPF you’re not 

going to create partnership because that’s actually not the way SAPS operates and, you know, 

it’s very difficult to change institutional culture and so you’re going to get a top down kind of 

relationship between the CPF and SAPS.  I mean, have you got any comments on that?  It’s 

troubling to see how little impact the CPFs have had on strategic decision-making,  on sectors, 

on the identification of hotspots and how irregular they are, how politicised sometimes they 

are, you know, there are really lots of complex issues here and it’s not easy to see a way 

through. 

MR TAIT:   No, but – I mean, I couldn’t comment on the fact that the SAPS have not always 

been closed and that’s in the initial years following the democratic elections in ’94 there was an 

openness and a receptiveness on the part of SAPS and far stronger opportunities to engage 

than what they have been over the past decade.  I also think that – and in the initial 

conversations around community policing that tension between a centralised top down control 

and management system and the importance of decentralisation and autonomy at station level 

which respond to the challenges has always – it’s known and initially there was some debate 

around how station budgeting would work and whether the identification of priorities and plans 

at station level would then inform the extent to which budgets are allocated to that particular 

station.  That really hasn’t come to a fruition to the extent to which it was initially or the initial 

conversations were and so you sit with the dilemma of having priorities identified at national 

level, these are the things that we’re going to be targeting which may or may not meet with the 

needs in that particular community and the extent to which when needs are identified in a 

particular community how safe we are moving from our area of residence to the train station 

are perhaps not resourced then partnership starts to show cracks. 

COMMISSIONER:   As I understand strategy is it’s all top down so from the province that 

feeds its way into performance agreements with station commanders which feeds its way into 

the safety plan for the station which feeds its way into performance evaluations, there isn’t 

really a space in that strategic creation for a community involvement even though the 

regulations contemplate the areas, the way it’s actually done is right down from, you know, 

originally past now Opus down into the station commander’s performance agreements and 

then straight into the way the station including its safety plan.  So that is exactly what you’re 

talking about that it’s a top down system and, you know, that – you know, I’m not sure whether 

that’s right or wrong but it certainly doesn’t create space for genuine engagement with 

communities from a bottom up way as to how to decide what a strategy of a particular station 

is and if really what that means is that actually CPFs just become, you know, talk environments 

which actually don’t really impact on strategy and so it’s not surprising they don’t work because 

why would you spent your Tuesday evening going to a meeting which you know is actually not 

going to have any impact at all? 

MR TAIT:   Unless you try and weight your performance areas for the station commanders and 

other key personnel around the extent to which they embrace and articulate community 

policing at that precinct level and so you can go beyond simply saying a forum exists and I’ve 



attended meetings to looking in more detail around what those activities of the forum are, what 

has been identified as the priorities, the extent to which those priorities have been internalised 

by the station, resourced by the station and responded and if you provide that weighting 

community policing as a key part of how we do this business then it would place more onus on 

the station commander or commissioner to respond more effectively and to see that being 

drawn in. 

COMMISSIONER:   So there is definitely injury time there. 

MR BISHOP:   Okay, thank you.  If go until quarter to, is that …?  Okay, thank you.  I wanted to 

ask you about the current sort of white paper on police and the possible amendments to the 

Police Act.  Can you just talk about your views on that (indistinct) as relates to community 

policing and so on? 

MR TAIT:   Ja, there are two policy papers that are in the process of being drafted, the more 

advanced is the white paper on police, the other in development is a white paper on safety and 

security.  The white people on police is intended to inform the review and I think potentially the 

complete overall of the Police Act where there have been some significant developments such 

as the establishment of a national secretariat and the Independent Police Investigative 

Directorate.  

 Those policy documents and the legislation I think provide really important to talk 

through and capture some of the legislative and policy limitations that this Commission has 

been grappling and from my own submission I think provides an opportunity  to streamline the 

relationships between and better understand how Community Police Forums, sector forums, 

neighbourhood watches and safety forms coalesce within this environment. 

MR BISHOP:   Can you just describe in your view what the role of the Community Safety 

Forum would be together with the CPFs and the sector forums, do we need all three of those 

and if we do how would they work together? 

MR TAIT:   I think the business of the Community Police Forum is focused on the business of 

policing.  The Community Safety Forum has a far broader view on safety and crime prevention 

and it includes role-players such as education, social development, local government and 

health.  It’s very difficult to bring those into the important discussion that needs to happen on 

how we do policing and so there is a role for both of them.  The Community Safety Forum also 

speaks to and potentially engages with the integrated development plan, so how do we build 

safety into development planning for local areas, what is that safety lens, I think there’s a clear 

role for both with representation from Community Police Forums on safety forums as 

representing that sector interested in policing. 

MR BISHOP:   I want to ask you about police oversight in somewhat general terms.  For 

example we heard yesterday from Jean Redpath that the way that human resource allocation 

is down is irrational and it’s something that even the Provincial Commissioner agreed with, that 

it’s irrational and yet that hadn’t been – nobody seemed to have picked up on that until this 

Commission happened.  So points that the Commissioner mentioned as possibility yesterday, 

there might be some failure of oversight by the police.  Can you talk in your experience and 



your expertise what the sort of nature of the oversight is in South Africa and what the failures 

or the problems are of the current system of oversight? 

MR TAIT:   Okay, well we have quite an elaborate architecture with various bodies looking at 

aspects of the conversation with the police so we have the Human Rights Commission looking 

at it specifically through a human rights lens, we have the auditor general looking at the 

finances, we have the ombudsman’s office, the Parliament Committee, we have IPID looking 

at misconduct and we’ve had a civilian secretariat of police.  That has gone through its ebbs 

and flows and is emerging now out of a time of considerable neglect.  That civilian secretariat 

of police has three mandate areas, the one is on policy and research, the other is on 

monitoring and inspections and the other is on partnership.  That monitoring inspections unit 

should pick up on the extent to which policy is being implemented and taken forward within the 

police and questions around resource allocation would be key questions for that monitoring 

unit to answer and I think it’s excellently placed at national level to be able to undertake these 

research projects. 

COMMISSIONER:   And how transparent is all of that?  

MR TAIT:   I beg your pardon? 

COMMISSIONER:   How transparent is all of that?  

MR TAIT:   The…? 

COMMISSIONER:   The work of the civilian secretariat. 

MR TAIT:   I think that’s a conversation that needs to be had, I would think that and I would 

hope that those reports are made public when they’re taken forward, that the facilities like the 

reference group which Dr Burger mentioned in his presentation comprising of academics and 

interested stakeholders are actively involved in terms of how that research is conceptualised 

and taken forward, I think by virtue of the resources required to do that kind of research there 

needs to be partnerships with the academic community to take that up and I think that those 

reports need to be made available and need to be engaged with by South Africans. 

COMMISSIONER:   Is there anything in the  civilian secretariat legislation which requires that 

work to transparent? 

MR TAIT:   I would have to reflect on that Act and see, I could come back to you on that one. 

MR PIKOLI:   I accept that the architecture is quite elaborate from your side but how effective 

is it because we are sitting here in 2014, the problems of resource allocation which is seen to 

be irrational, how come we’ve missed this all this time with this elaborate architecture? 

MR TAIT:   It’s potential that some things fell through the cracks. I think if we look at the extent 

to which the SAPS budget and the annual report is interrogated, you could see that, you know, 

there is and there have been questions raised and debates in Parliament on the extent to 

which resource allocation is appropriate. We are aware of conversations with the auditor 

general has had on the extent to which SAPS are able to track budgeting down to station level 

and account for the expenditure and the value of that expenditure at station level. 

 I think the bigger questions around policy and resource allocation extent to which we’ve 

moved has been less developed, it’s potentially an area that can be picked up by the 



secretariat, I think there’s been effectiveness in terms of being able to address some of the big 

misconduct areas so we have a really good sense now over the last years of extent to which 

there are deaths as a result of police action, deaths in custody, being able to track and 

manage that, so I think that on those macro-misconduct levels we’ve made some good 

progress. 

COMMISSIONER:   Did you see Jean Redpath’s report and the extent to which some police 

stations on a measure based on a per capita allocation police personnel and recorded crime all 

that the significant under resourcing not only two of the three Khayelitsha police station but 

whole lot of neighbouring ones? 

MR TAIT:   Ja. 

COMMISSIONER:   It really is not – it’s not falling between the cracks, it’s an alarming picture 

in 2014. 

MR TAIT:   Ja. 

COMMISSIONER:   And it say to me that elaborate structures and yet still this has not been 

picked up, I mean it really is worrying that such a picture which is just not consonant with the 

values of our constitution is overlooked by one of the largest organisations in the country and 

what we really need to think about is, what – if that creates inefficiencies, which it certainly 

must, as Ms Redpath said yesterday, what systems do you put in place to ensure that that 

doesn’t continue to happen and that it is properly monitored?  I mean, within this elaborate 

structure – I mean, it’s interesting that this – these figures don’t seem to have been fully 

understood certainly by very many of the senior police officers who have come before us, they 

don’t really understand how these figures are put together, now that may be something – 

because it’s incredibly complex system and we’ve really struggled to understand it as well, and 

maybe that’s one of the problems about complexity is that it actually doesn’t enable, you know, 

rational conversation to happen because it just becomes some sort of technical area that only 

one person or two people are experts in.  But it is – it really, it’s big question I think needs to be 

asked. 

MR TAIT:   Ja, I would agree with you, Commissioner, I think that certainly is the next oversight 

project in terms of how equitably our resources are being allocated. 

COMMISSIONER:   Ja, I mean there are other issues too around oversight, for example, the 

way in which complaints are managed, it’s very worrying, patterns of complaints and the way in 

which complaints are dealt with here are really worrying, the very, very vast number of 

complaints are ended off which a comment, “Not substantiated.”  Now either there are a lot of 

people in Khayelitsha who really enjoy going to the police station to law a complaint or there’s 

a problem with the way in which complaints are dealt with as well.  Thanks, Mr Bishop. 

MR BISHOP:   Mr Tait, if I can take you to another issue addressing your report around arrest 

and detention.  So in your report you have these two sort of large problems with arrest and 

detention, people are arrested and unnecessarily detained for lengthy periods after their arrest, 

is that correct? 

MR TAIT:   That appears from my reading of the task team report. 



MR BISHOP:   Yes.  And what would you in your are the sort of the underlying causes of those 

problems? 

MR TAIT:   I haven’t done specific research into Khayelitsha, I think it’s a project that’s worth 

undertaking but certainly in terms of the research what we’ve done more generally on policing 

issues around resource allocation as mentioned, training, pressure on the police to deliver 

results in terms of arrest, potentially issues around corruption, all of those play a role in being 

quick to arrest and perhaps arrest unnecessarily and without the necessary evidence in hand 

to be able to expedite a quicker process through to the courts. 

MR BISHOP:   Can you just explain how lack of resources  leads to these problems, lengthy 

detention, unnecessary arrests? 

MR TAIT:   Potentially it could be around the ability to investigate, the ability to follow up with 

witnesses and build that case, it could relate to being unsure of whether that particular suspect 

could be tracked down again.  So, ja. 

MR BISHOP:   So you hold them in case you can’t find them again after you released them? 

MR TAIT:   Potentially.  

MR BISHOP:   One of the other experts who is going to testify before the Commission, Ms 

Ballard, the reports, there’s also problems with oversight and accountability with regard to 

police detention.  Would you agree with that? 

MR TAIT:   I certainly think that we need to invest more in a system of being able to monitor 

police detention and custody and ensure that procedural safeguards and conditions are being 

met. 

MR BISHOP:   What body do you think should be responsible for performing that oversight and 

how should it happen? 

MR TAIT:   In the early ‘90’s when the transformation of policing was being discussed a lay 

visitor scheme was being piloted and tested in many different precincts which provided for 

community members to serve as lay visitors a visit police stations and police on a regular 

basis.  That was incorporated into the role of the Community Police Forum when the Act was 

passed and unfortunately that component of the work never really took fruit and was further 

developed and so there has been a gap in being able to on an ongoing and systematic basis to 

independent visits and monitoring of police cells.  

 At one stage the ICD picked that up and did cell inspections particular around being 

more proactive around the prevention of deaths in police custody.  I think that that is certainly 

an area that needs to be developed and will promote relationship and a far better approach by 

police to arrest and detention. 

 That potentially could be done through Community Police Forums but I think in terms of 

the mandate that they have now and the capacity constraints, potentially it’s more appropriate 

to locate that outside of a Community Police Forum and potentially the monitoring divisions 

within the civilian secretariat of police possibly at province level can pick that up. 

MR BISHOP:   Ms Ballard also expressed a concern that the CPFs might not be sufficiently 

independent because of their close relationship with SAPS.  Would you agree with that? 



MR TAIT:   That is a risk, ja. 

MR BISHOP:   Commissioner, I see my time has run out.  If there’s anything that comes up 

can I deal with in five minutes in re-examination. 

COMMISSIONER:   Absolutely, that’s fine. 

MR BISHOP:   Thank you, Commissioner. 

NO FURTHER QUESTIONS BY MR BISHOP 

COMMISSIONER:   Ms Bawa? 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS BAWA:   Morning, Mr Tait. 

MR TAIT:   Morning. 

MS BAWA:   I want to pick up where you’ve left off on this monitoring and evaluation unit of the 

secretariat.  We ascertained, as the Commission, that they had no reports on Khayelitsha, 

they’ve done no monitoring, evaluation in Khayelitsha.  It also seems that the only presence in 

the Western Cape appears to be the provincial secretariat which resides in the Department of 

Community Safety.  Would you agree with that understanding? 

MR TAIT:   The monitoring unit is recently established and developing a capacity so it’s not 

surprising that they haven’t got any focused reports on Khayelitsha. 

MS BAWA:   So since it’s established under the new Act in 2011 it’s still a work-in-progress? 

MR TAIT:   Yes. 

MS BAWA:   When it was established, the bill, I looked at some of the submissions which had 

been made by some of the organisations and I came across one that was done by the ISS and 

they expressed grave concern about whether it was possible for the secretariat to monitor the 

conduct of approximately 200 000 members of SAPS that will be – around 197 but say 

approximately that and whether in fact they’re the right organisation to be tasked with that kind 

of oversight and I would like you to comment on that, given its resources. 

MR TAIT:   Are you referring to the national secretariat? 

MS BAWA:   Yes. 

MR TAIT:   I think there is a provision within the Act for collaboration, cooperation between the 

provincial secretariats and so priorities are identified and it – kind of a strategy around what it 

is that we’re going to be looking at in more detail is articulated.   There is resourcing at 

provincial level to be able to take forward some of the monitoring and inspection work and I 

think that there’s an addition, a need at a more high level strategy level for the national 

secretariat to undertake monitoring inspections. 

MS BAWA:   Well, whether we call it the provincial secretariat or whether we call it a provincial 

secretariat, ultimately the provincial secretariat is a body which is established by virtue of the 

Act – by the Civilian Secretariat Act and they strictly speaking should be answerable to the 

national secretariat and the reason why I’m asking this question is, it is now residing in a 

provincial department.  As far as I understand it’s only properly established in one if not two 

provinces at the moment, this provincial secretariat residing in a provincial department.   

 We are blurring the lines between monitoring that’s got to be done by the secretariat as 

contemplated by this Act and the powers which the province has under Section 205 and one 



expects the province to evolve its oversight functions to its Department of Community Safety 

and on a sector level one expects the secretariat to perform its functions however it chooses to 

that and it’s done at the provincial secretariat and we’ve now essentially fused the two under 

one department and I’d like your comments on that. 

MR TAIT:   I think there’s still quite a significant distinction between the provincial secretariats 

and the national secretariats and that relationship is not as clear cut as it potentially could be.  

The provincial secretariats and their role and function is still accountable to the provincial 

department and the Provincial Act and the province and there is a relationship that needs to be 

established and structured between how South Africa nationally can look at police 

performance in line with policies adopted and how this is taken up at provincial level. 

MS BAWA:   In eight of the nine provinces you might not have any difficulty but you sit in the 

Western Cape with a province which is operating under the guise of one political party and a 

national secretariat which is located in the department, while I understand it’s (indistinct) 

department but in a national space.  Now what do you do when you have a provincial policy 

which the Department of Community Safety is perfectly entitled under the law to have which 

conflicts with the directives or the instructions which a provincial secretariat is meant to follow 

in terms of oversight, what position to you then put the very same people in? 

MR TAIT:   The same people being the police or…?   

MS BAWA:   No, no, no, I’m talking about the oversight people because essentially your 

staffing or your provincial secretariat are employees of the Department of Community Safety. 

MR TAIT:   Ja, it’s a very difficult question for me to answer and I think there’s a long history of 

the Provincial Department of Community Safety and the secretariat in playing an oversight role 

over police looking at how well they’ve been performing within the province, understanding 

what the needs and priorities are of the province and working to ensure that these are picked 

up by provincial police.  I think where one of the gaps has been is that during the days of the 

previous secretariat of police is that we had very little limited national oversight in terms of how 

police were performing.  So, for example, on resource allocation and the extent to which the 

RAG is affected and that it’s meeting its needs, well we might get insight at province level 

through the monitoring that the provincial departments do, the national picture has been less 

developed. 

I think the establishment of the national secretariat of police and its ability to construct a 

joint project with the nine provincial secretariat around addressing some of these issues could 

potentially expand and develop that oversight role. 

MS BAWA:   Can I maybe just as a point of information say we had evidence from Dr 

Lawrence who is the head of the Department of Community Safety where he expressed utter 

frustration at the inability to get any information on the RAG but I don’t want to pursue that but 

the one point I want to take further is when the civilian secretariat in 2012/2013 presented a 

budget to Portfolio Committee the head of the Portfolio Committee – I have article which is 

says – was quoted as telling the civilian secretariat that the committee was unable to reconcile 

the fact that the secretariat will be a fully fledged government department with its inability to 



criticise SAPS and the comments in quotes is saying: 

“You exist to criticise the police not to be co-opted by them.” 

And I want to take this a little bit further. We have the secretariat who is effectively mandated 

to advise the minister and to develop policies, that’s commendable.  In doing so she had put 

together a reference group of which a number of very senior policing experts advice is being 

sought in relation thereto.  That white paper will ultimately lead to an amendment of the SAPS 

Act.  That same secretariat is then meant to oversee that implementation by SAPS.  

Something doesn’t feel right about that and I’d like your comment on that. 

MR TAIT:   No, there is an inherent tension there.  I think the only way for oversight to work is if 

it’s undertaken robustly and without fear and favour and – ja. 

MR PIKOLI:   Can I just add to that?  The law requires that the civilian secretariat should 

provide reports to the minister on the performance of the police service and also on the 

implementation and compliance with policy directives.  Do you know what happens to the 

reports, do you know the content of the report and whether the minister actually acts on the 

report?  Is this somehow being monitored? 

MR TAIT:   I have not seen it. 

MS BAWA:   Can I – are you familiar – I know you’ve been the effective head of ADCOF since 

2007, I have an article which was written by Andrew Faull in September 2013 about monitoring 

the performance of police oversight agencies.  Are you familiar with the article or should I 

rather talk to Andrew about it when he testifies later in the week? 

MR TAIT:   Andrew did the research so he would probably be more effective in answering 

those questions. 

MS BAWA:   But can I maybe ask you a general question? 

MR TAIT:   Sure. 

MS BAWA:   They look at various international oversight bodies in the article and in it there are 

what they call learnings from those oversight bodies and I wanted to have a sense of whether 

in your view any of those learnings is something that we should look at to incorporate into our 

oversight bodies or am I asking too general a question, you’d have to look specifically at what 

they’re suggesting? 

MR TAIT:   I think that article was written to understand how impact was being measured an 

evaluated when it came to civilian oversight and I think those measures and indicators 

certainly need to be incorporated into how we assess the effectiveness of our oversight 

agencies. 

MS BAWA:   Let me give you one example, if I looks at the Police Ombudsman for Northern 

Ireland and the article only look at IPID it doesn’t look at the any of the other oversight in 

(indistinct) context but two of the – one of the things that seem to be of interest to me on the 

Northern Ireland example is the compiling of annual complainant satisfaction survey to be 

done by the oversight body and I’d like your views as to whether you think that is an 

appropriate step that the monitoring and evaluation body either provincial secretariat or the 

national secretariat should be undertaking as part of their oversight function. 



MR TAIT:   In terms of assessing the impact that they’re having? 

MS BAWA:   Yes. 

MR TAIT:   Ja, I think so.  I think some of those indicators that they mentioned within the article 

within the accessibility of the oversight agency is transparency, the speed with which it 

responds to cases can really be understood by asking recipients of that service (indistinct) to 

which they have been put. 

MS BAWA:   It also then puts in place a framework for evaluating police complaints legislation 

and it sets up various categories and it asks various questions and having looked at the police 

complaints legislation as it’s contained in the SAPS Acts and the regulations and how it filters 

down into national instructions doesn’t seem as if those questions, these questions have ever 

been asked in respect of our complaints legislation, would you agree with that?  Deals with 

accessibility, fairness and respect for rights, openness and accountability, timelines, 

thoroughness, impartiality, independence, sets a number of categories and it ask questions 

and I’m putting to you as the common phrase has been nowadays, should we not as a 

recommendation say this is a good approach or a good frame to adopt if one wants to evaluate 

our current complaints legislation? 

MR TAIT:   I think so.  I would agree with that. 

MS BAWA:   In your …(intervention) 

COMMISSIONER:   Can I just interrupt you one minute, Ms Bawa, I’m trying to be quiet but 

there was just one – what seems to absent in a lot of evaluation of what’s happening is any 

grounded assessment of what the experience of policing is by citizens.  So we measure the 

police on crime reduction issues, we don’t measure them against, you know, victimisation 

surveys of surveys of experience in the police or levels of trust expressed and that seems to 

be pattern, you know, that goes right across to the issue that’s been put to by complaints, 

would you agree that one of the ways of ensuring police accountability and perhaps informing 

police strategy and assisting police to do their job better is to ensure that right across surveys 

are done to assess those kind of responses and to feed that into performance evaluations, into 

strategic decisions going forward and so on. 

MR TAIT:   I’d agree. 

COMMISSIONER:   Thank you. 

MS BAWA:   I actually meant to ask you this at the start and then run away with follow up 

questions, what should we understand by civilian oversight? 

MR TAIT:   Again, it’s quite a difficult question to answer but it relates to how we set the 

priorities for police, how we measure their performance against those priorities and 

encompasses the role played by the State through bodies like IPD and the secretariat, 

parliament, the judiciary, the internal affairs and complaints units within the police and the 

extent to which civil society engaged through Community Police Forums, the media and 

others. 

MS BAWA:   So when we talk about civilian oversight, when we started this process I didn’t 

perceive the oversight function of the Department of Community Safety as constituting civilian 



oversight and I’ll tell you where my understanding comes from.   

 The provisions in the constitution section 205 came as a consequence of the first 

certification judgment of the Constitutional Court where they had the task of ensuring that 

provincial powers wasn’t substantially less than what the provinces had with the creation of the 

constitution and the  

Constitutional Court found in their first judgment that yes, that in the basket of provincial 

powers the provinces enjoyed less powers then when the constitution got amended as far 

policing was concerned, Section 205 came into being and so when I initially looked at this I 

perceived this as a power provided to a province, as an organ of state in the sphere of 

government at Provincial level or has certain policing powers qua province not civilian 

oversight.  Is my understanding in the context of civilian oversight wrong?  

MR TAIT:   I think they are a component of what is constructed as civilian oversight. 

MS BAWA:   So when we looked Parliamentary Portfolio Committees, when we look at 

Provincial Portfolio Committees that would all constitute civilian oversight? 

MR TAIT:   Yes. 

MS BAWA:   So anything that is not policing oversight is civilian oversight? 

MR TAIT:   Yes. 

MS BAWA:   Okay, so when the Department of Community Safety – I’m not familiar with – I’m 

not sure if you’re familiar with the system that they have in place now where they’ve 

encouraged CPFs to conduct visits a police stations and to do certain inspections and to 

provide certain reports and this is an enabling way for CPFs to take funding.  Are you familiar 

with this project? 

MR TAIT:  To a certain extent. 

MS BAWA:   Okay.  Now one of the recommendations you make is for a lay visit, a system to 

visit police cells. 

MR TAIT:   Ja. 

MS BAWA:   Now there are certain – the evidence before the Commission was that there are 

certain designated members of CPFs who are permitted to the cells and the reports we’ve 

seen that they provide is they give us an indication of when they go and do their visits whether 

the cells are clean, whether men are separate, the children are separate, women are separate, 

whether – but we never see any lay – there’s no reporting of inspection of registers, 

inspections of SAPS 324s inspections to check whether people are being detained over 48 

hours.  Is that a task a lay visitor should be doing? 

MR TAIT:   I think so, yes. 

MS BAWA:   Okay, would that be one of the recommendations you think the Commission 

should be making? 

MR TAIT:   Yes. 

MS BAWA:   Alright, so my last question, is you make a comment in your report about the lack 

of investment in police training and then there’s a caveat, I saw no specific evidence of a lack 

of training.  I want to direct to an article which came out in March 2013 which says: 



“The training and recruitment of police officials should be revisited and revised to 

limit the apparent increase of police brutality.  This was the view of the Minister of 

Police Mr Nathi Mthethwa in his briefing to Parliament’s Portfolio Committee on 

police yesterday morning and he went to say – he told members of Parliament 

that the ministry needed to look at the recruitment processes to attract better 

police officials.  Other members…” 

I’m now taking extracts, not the whole thing, it goes further on to say: 

“Other members argued that there was a problem of ill-discipline in the police 

service and that senior management needed to lead by example.  MPs agreed 

SAPS recruitment process needed to be strengthened.” 

Yesterday I rather ineptly indicated to the human resource people that 30 or 40 years ago 

when Piet Byleveld indicated in his book he was recruited there appeared to be system in 

place of where senior police officers would visit his farm and speak to his family to see whether 

he was appropriate and that a system has evolved since then where we have recruitment at 

centres, people come in, they apply, they have minimum standards, they undergo 

psychometric testing but it seems that even the minister in 2013 said that somewhere along 

the line we need to do more about recruitment, do you know if anything more has been done 

or if so what do you think should be done? 

MR TAIT:   No, I’m not aware. 

MS BAWA:   So you’re not aware of anything being done in the last year? 

MR TAIT:   In terms of recruitment?   

MS BAWA:   Ja. 

MR TAIT:    In changing recruitment standards? 

MS BAWA:   Ja. 

MR TAIT:   Not that I can speak of. 

MS BAWA:   Okay do you think that there’s a lack of investment in training generally? 

MR TAIT:   I think we have made strides and we have sought to improve the training 

environment but I think this is something that can be continuously and consistently improved 

and particularly in areas where there is so much at stake like arresting and detaining someone.  

In these standards the processes and the procedures are evolving, that a lot of it is dependent 

on the dynamic at the time of potentially the arrest and the detention but we’ve had new rules 

come in such as the criminalisation of torture and that these need to be constantly brought to 

the attention of police members in terms of how they operate. 

MS BAWA:   Then finally my last and I’m jumping about, what do you see the role of cluster 

CPFs to be? 

MR TAIT:   As a resource and a support to the station level CPFs, a space where common 

concerns and common problems in terms of both how the clusters cooperate but how they are 

addressing issues can be shared and lessons learnt. 

MS BAWA:   Thank you. 

NO FURTHER QUESTIONS BY MS BAWA 



CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR ARENDSE:   Thank you.  Good morning, Mr Tait.  Your paper 

itself, it doesn’t deal or address the issues of oversight or recruitment or the allocation of 

resources as I read it. 

MR TAIT:   No. 

MR ARENDSE:  But yet for a while now you’ve fielded  that a number of questions that relate 

to those areas.  I don’t question your credentials at all and your expertise in answering 

questions on oversight but it would have been helpful if we had advance indication that you 

would deal with these issues.  

 One of the leading questions that Ms Bawa put to you was the issue of the inspection of 

detention registers.  That is not one of the recommendations that you make in your paper, is 

that right? 

MR TAIT:   In the paper I recommend that we introduce a system of lay visitors that would 

provide for monitoring inspects of police custody and within that environment it would be a 

comprehensive inspection including both the conditions of the detention as well as the extent 

to which registers have been completed, the length of time people are spending in detention, 

etcetera. 

MR ARENDSE:  So I do acknowledge that you recommend lay inspections in regard to 

detention and the rest, so you say it would be included within that recommendation? 

MR TAIT:   Yes. 

MR ARENDSE:   Now I’m not being critical of that because it seems to me that one of the 

problems that we need to – that has emerged in the Commission of Inquiry and that we need 

to address and that perhaps not much attention has been paid to is actually the training of 

CPFs and the extent to which they should be empowered or it should be pointed out to them in 

some kind of a workshop or whatever as to their powers of oversight because it seems to be 

me that they do and they can play quite a critical role in the oversight of the police and the 

work that they do especially at station level. Is that an area that you feel should be looked at 

more closely? 

MR TAIT:   I think that there is a role for Community Police Forums to engage more robustly on 

the accountability mandate and I think there’s certainly the space for additional capacitation of 

Community Police Forums in terms of understanding police oversight, in terms of 

understanding the legislation but also a range of skills from advocacy through to 

communication, conflict resolution, etcetera. 

MR ARENDSE:  Because there has been evidence from some cluster CPFs and two of the 

CPF chairpersons that have testified here that they are and have engaged by station 

commander in relation to their station priorities, their inputs on the annual plans and that these 

in fact have to be endorsed by the CPFs in writing on an annual basis. 

MR TAIT:   Hm. 

MR ARENDSE:   Did you come across some evidence when you read some of the transcript?  

MR TAIT:   Not directly, no. 

MR ARENDSE:  Okay.  But certainly it is a requirement of the law that this must be done. 



MR TAIT:   I’m not sure if it’s a requirement of the law. 

MR ARENDSE:  By contrast you in fact, as I understood Mr Burger’s yesterday is that he 

would rather do away with Community Police Forums, it doesn’t work according to him.  What 

would be your comment on that? 

MR TAIT:   I can only respond in terms of how I responded earlier this morning.  I think that 

community policing is an integral part of policing, I think that there is the need to develop 

consensus around what are the challenges, concerns and priorities of the community, that 

there’s by nature a multiplicity of stakeholders, at some point those various interest groups and 

stakeholders need to engage in conversation with the police to be able to take forward, 

articulate those plans, measure them, follow up on activities and I don’t know of a space to do 

that without actually bringing people together in a forum. 

MR ARENDSE:  Well, it certainly seems to me, as a layperson, to be a common sense 

approach to dealing with and addressing crime, is that you must get involved with the very 

people who are affected by it in the community. 

MR TAIT:   Ja, I do understand what those needs are and to understand how effective you are 

in terms of responding to them.  

MR ARENDSE:  Now clearly from the evidence in this Commission and totally throughout the 

country the whole system of community policing and sector policing which you say underpins 

and should underpin a democratic police in our country is not perfect and evidence has shown 

it’s imperfect but would you accept as a general proposition that we have made many, many 

strides in the 20 years since 1994 when the police force was converted into a service which 

means a service to the community than to what it was before 1994? 

MR TAIT:   Certainly. 

MR ARENDSE:  In fact the police have come in for a lot of criticism not only in this 

Commission of Inquiry and as recently as yesterday, some fair, some unfair in our view, and in 

other forums there’s another prominent Commission of Inquiry ongoing at the moment but are 

we going to transform the police to where we want it to be in a period of 20 years given the 

history of our country? 

MR TAIT:   I think it’s an ongoing project, I think the nature of our society changes, we’re a 

very different country to what we were 20 years ago, there are a range of new issues, there 

are range of new laws, it’s how we adapt to that, how we respond those environments, I think 

there’s always room for improvement, I think there are spaces where we can perform better. 

MR ARENDSE:  Ja, you know, fortunately are elections have come and gone so this is – I 

can’t be accused of using an election slogan but we have many more good stories to tell than 

bad ones and I’m not going to mention some of them.  Would you agree with that statement? 

MR TAIT:   We certainly have a number of victories that we can celebrate but at the same time 

we have some occurrences, events and developments that are completely unacceptable and I 

think we need to address those. 

MR ARENDSE:  But I think the – isn’t the crucial difference between those instances that still 

come to light today and there is no place to hide, people walk around with their cell phones, 



they capture scenes, we see it on TV every day, on YouTube and but the difference is people 

are held to account and they are brought to book.   

 There’s the recent example that was brought to the attention of the Provincial 

Commissioner and just the other day we read in the paper and we were told that the 

perpetrator has been dismissed.  So we live in a very different environment to what it was 

before 1994.   

MR TAIT:   We have seen advances on that level of accountability, there are areas where I 

think we need to develop further and I make the point in my submission around the question of 

disciplinary enquires and while we can see that misconduct with personnel within the three 

stations of Khayelitsha have been identified, that hearings are being held, that people are 

being dismissed, I mean what I missed in reading through the evidence that I have was the 

extent to which station management was engaging with those issues, were trends emerging, 

how is this station management, do we respond to that, how do we start shifting the 

environment so that we can try and prevent that misconduct from happening?  What are we 

doing to address issues of potentially people being kept longer than the 48 hours or arrested 

unnecessarily and I couldn’t find management actually grappling with those things and saying 

as the manager of this organisation with some 300 people under my command, what am I 

doing where I recognise that this going wrong?   And so yes, there is progress on issues of 

accountability but we need to move beyond that and we need to start seeing a kind of 

responsibility and consequence.  

MR ARENDSE:  I think that is the challenge.  The problem is not the identification of the 

problem, do you agree with me? 

MR TAIT:   It’s very important to identify the problem before you start. 

MR ARENDSE:  Yes, now one of the most important things in this Commission that appears to 

be understated is that those problems have been identified by the police themselves.  You’ve 

seen or it has brought to your attention the many inspectorate reports, this is the internal police 

often hated by the police themselves because they are the ones that go around and highlight 

these problems. 

 The issues of discipline, issues of absenteeism, abuse of sick leave, failure to discipline 

or inadequate discipline, those have been highlighted by the police inspectorate themselves.   

Now the point I want to make is, surely the first important step towards resolving a problem is 

the ability to identify a problem.   Do you agree with that general proposition? 

MR TAIT:   Ja. 

MR ARENDSE:  And the police have done that and that is why experts like you are now here 

to say now how do we deal with these problems.   Now in dealing with the problem, we are still 

ranked as a developing country, we’re not a first world country, and you would be aware of the 

contestation within government, within government departments, state departments, the fight 

over resources and it’s also within that context that we’re going to have to almost modify our 

approach to how do we resolve problems.  Do you accept that? 

MR TAIT:   I mean …(intervention) 



MR ARENDSE:  Or is it an all or nothing approach, do we want a first world Scotland Yard 

solution to all our problems? 

MR TAIT:   But there’s also an issue of prioritising and what do you prioritise in resolving some 

of the problems that you’re facing and certainly I would put the ability to respect and treat 

people with right and dignity as enshrined in the constitution, must be uppermost within those 

priorities.  

 We’ve seen that the extent to which we’ve spent resources on policing, the extent to 

which we’ve been, as mentioned previously, brought down the murder rate, the improvements 

that you’ve mentioned, we live with this legacy of ongoing distrust and suspicion of the police, 

we need to resolve that, surely that must be a priority. 

MR ARENDSE:  And I don’t think that that can be disputed is that even though have limited 

resources you can prioritise the issues and deal with the most important and the most 

important ones would be that deal with the rights of our people.  I don’t think there can be any 

doubt.  But it’s a pity, Mr Tait, because you’re not going to pick it up from a transcript, all the 

station commanders – and I say this without fear of contradiction – all the station commanders, 

all the detective commanders at the three stations are all here in Khayelitsha because they 

want to be here.   

All of them have said they want to be here because they want to make a difference to 

the lives of people in Khayelitsha.  All of them have said that they themselves – and this is not 

to be found in the national instruction or in some book somewhere, they have gone out and 

they’ve interacted with the community.  Did that not come through from the evidence that you 

read? 

MR TAIT:   I mean I think that and I mean I can’t speak specifically for the station commanders 

and commissioners but certainly during the course of a station commander’s duty there must 

be – they must create the opportunity  and engage with the stakeholders that they serve.  The 

challenge is how you take that engagement and make it systemic and systematic towards 

achieving particular objectives and that you are able to expand that network to really 

encompass everybody within Khayelitsha in this instance and it’s those kind of questions that I 

think the station commander could potentially be asking themselves.   

MR ARENDSE:  Well they do and that is why they all testified that they hold, for example, 

imbizos.  These imbizos are not to be found in the standing order or a national instruction but 

these are meetings where the whole community, all community organisations are invited to 

attend and they address them.  They address victims of crime especially serious crime like 

murder and so on and they’ve gone out of their way to do that.  So all I’m putting to you is that 

the evidence shows that we really have special police officers operating here in Khayelitsha 

doing the best they can with the available resources to make a difference to the lives of people 

and it’s come through particularly in the past two to three years since some of them have 

become station commanders and so on. 

 Now just in terms of the resourcing, the police – I don’t know why it came as such a 

surprise that Ms Redpath had pointed out some anomalies or as she calls it unlawful, 



unconstitutional allocations, the police themselves have given evidence here to say they would 

ideally like 50 000 more officers, the police themselves have come here to say that from the 

ideal at the end of the day once Parliament allocates the budget they get 70% of what they 

want, so the station commanders themselves have come here to say we need, we love more 

officers and that is what I wanted to get your comment on is that yes, one must prioritise the 

needs and identify the problems but there is a problem in our country overall with resources.  

We know about education, we know that our people need proper toilets, we know how people 

need proper houses, proper roads, a whole host of competing demands.  But you say within all 

of that you can still give effect to the values our constitution by prioritising some of these 

issues. 

MR TAIT:   I’m finding it difficult to follow your question.  I think that …(intervention) 

MR ARENDSE:  No, it’s not – maybe I’m following Ms Bawa, you know, like she tends to make 

a speech and then she puts a question and then you say yes or no, so fortunately you’re one 

of those witnesses who has not done that.  What I’ve done is I’m contextualising the problem 

and I think it’s not inconsistent with your paper and with your evidence which I find 

commendable is that this is a problem, it’s a problem that relates to the transformation of our 

country and this is an important aspect of that project but it must be seen within the context of 

a whole host of other problems that we have, that’s what I’m putting to you and I’m asking for 

your comment. 

MR TAIT:   I don’t think you can divorce from the environment within which you operate, I think 

there is a conversation around resource allocation, I think there’s a conversation around what 

is the ideal number of police officers for Khayelitsha but what I tried to raise in the submission 

that I made is that I think the area of community policing needs to be prioritised and we need to 

give it more attention if we’re serious about that and that simply having a forum is not good 

enough, simply ticking in the box and saying I’ve done community policing by attending and 

imbizo is potentially not good enough, it needs to be a true and real partnership with 

communities identifying what the needs are, working with communities across all the 

stakeholders from – I mean business community, church groups, youth groups, LGBTI support 

groups, witness empowerment centres, the entire spectrum needs to be brought into the 

discussion around what it is we need to do, what are your specific needs and concerns and 

how are we responding to that and the extent to which I, as a police manager, am leveraging 

the resources and the traction to be able to address those within this difficult environment that I 

work and I think that that needs a lot more attention than what it’s been getting in the past. 

MR ARENDSE:  But again as much as it makes sense to me and I’m sure to everybody here 

today, that’s easier said than done.  We also know the problems associated with Community 

Police Forums.  As much as you want – and the Section 18 of this Act, SAPS Act, requires it to 

be a forum composed of a broadly representative community.  Often or more often than not it 

is not the case, we have political contestation, we have the SJC that say look, what’s the point 

of us going in there, it’s nominated by a particular group or a particular - or it’s politicised, to 

put it more broadly or there’s too close a relationship between the station commander and the 



Community Police Forum chairperson.  So they don’t engage, they go somewhere else. 

 So ideally I think that is what we want and that is the ideal that is set in the Act.  Do you 

have problems with the Act in terms of the composition and the functions and objectives of the 

CPFs? 

MR TAIT:  I think there is room within the legislation to take account of the new structures and 

forums that are in development and to streamline and create clearer relationships between 

them but in response to the contextualisation or comment that you provided I think that station 

commanders or commissioners need to go beyond the engagement with the  Community 

Police Forum when they know that certain key constituencies are potentially not represented or 

not engaged.  

If community policing is the underlying value system that informs how they do business, 

that that community group is a key stakeholder.  If they’re not at the Community Police Forum 

then it’s up to that station commissioner to go out and engage and if that requires bilateral 

discussions, if it requires agreements that would eventually see greater participation within the 

Community Police Forum then that’s what we need to aim for, we can’t simply stop at that 

point and say well, SJC is not participating but we’ve got a Community Police Forum, we’ll 

continue to do business with the Community Police Forum.  We need to recognise that as a 

legitimate constituency and we need to go out and we need to engage with them and I think 

that that kind of proactive response to knowing, working with understanding, drawing your 

community closer, building that consensus is what’s missing in terms of how we go forward 

applying community policing and that potentially doesn’t require additional resources  but it 

requires a different attitude. 

MR ARENDSE:  I think a lot of our problems in our country is attitudinal but having said that, is 

the Commissioner presiding not also correct to say is this not a burden that should be taken 

away from the station commander, should it be put somewhere else sort of under proper 

civilian oversight so that it’s there, it’s resourced, it’s functioning, there is someone who takes 

the minute and there’s a calendar which says we’re meeting every two weeks, we’re meeting 

every month, these are the items on the agenda and we’re going to discuss it and the station 

commander or his or her delegate must go to the meeting and they must attend the meeting. 

 Now you have the station commander whose got to deal with service delivery problems, 

they crop up, you know, without notice overnight, he’s got to attend, or there’s a big crime 

scene, murder, or the station commander goes on leave or the station commander goes on a 

course.  There’s all these problems and then, you know, the station commander must still sit 

with problems that have been identified with policing and then there is also the Community 

Police Forum which yes, properly functioning will assist you in resolving crime issues but isn’t a 

bit too much? 

MR TAIT:   I think that the …(intervention) 

MR ARENDSE:  In other words what I’m asking, is this a structural problem or is it just a 

problem with attitude which you touched on? 

MR TAIT:   I don’t think the station commander can divorce themselves from the responsibility 



or delegate that responsibility of working with knowing and engaging community stakeholders 

and groups, I think that the Community Police Forum potentially could be established under a 

facility like the provincial secretariats or even the national secretariat, I think the resourcing and 

the capacitation around training, secretarial support, meeting facilities, etcetera, could be taken 

on, that the SAPS then participates fully on Community Police Forum meetings but that there’s 

still a responsibility and there’s still a need for police managers to be able to engage with the 

communities that they serve, you can’t do it in a vacuum and although it’s a difficult job and 

that there’s a huge demand on their time that it’s an integral part of how we need to do 

business. 

COMMISSIONER:   Mr Arendse, I’m a little concerned about time, are you coming close to the 

end of your questions?  Your time has been used. 

MR ARENDSE:  Not at all, Madame Chair, but if time – if I must be stopped then I – there’s a 

number of questions, Mr Tait, which perhaps then I shouldn’t or can’t pursue with you.  I 

wanted to ask you …(intervention) 

COMMISSIONER:   Perhaps, Mr Arendse, if you could put your questions as crisply as 

possible you would find that you time might be better utilised and I’ll give you until quarter to 

eleven to do so. 

MR ARENDSE:  Am I not putting my questions crisply? 

COMMISSIONER:   No. 

MR ARENDSE:  You don’t criticise Ms Bawa when she makes long speeches. 

COMMISSIONER:   I will if she goes over her time. 

MR ARENDSE:  It’s important for me to contextualise the question that I put …(intervention) 

COMMISSIONER:   I understand that, but we’re all working under time constraints. 

MR ARENDSE:  I don’t think you do, Madame Chair, with respect, you don’t. 

COMMISSIONER:   We are working under time constraints.  

MR ARENDSE:   Unless you’re telling me that I’m asking completely irrelevant questions or the 

propositions I put are completely irrelevant. 

COMMISSIONER:   Mr Arendse, I’m not impressed with your tone but you will have until 

quarter to eleven to complete your questions. 

MR ARENDSE:  Mr Tait, you never touched on – perhaps it wasn’t part of your brief, 

Community Safety Forums which seems to embrace a more broader multi-disciplinary 

approach to community policing than Community Police Forums.   

MR TAIT:   I think the Community Safety Forum is a valuable mechanism, it will draw other 

sector departments into a discussion around what makes communities safe, such education 

and health and local government, I think it’s an ideal place to address issues around the 

environmental concerns or the drivers of crime potentially like street lighting, unsafe roads to 

and from places of residence to a station and that there’s certainly a place for them.  I think 

that there’s a space for cooperation between a Community Police Forum, which is looking at 

the business of policing and this facility which can address some of the more preventative 

issues. 



MR ARENDSE:  You don’t mention at all in your paper in your evidence the role of reservists 

because we know that remuneration for reservists has since been discontinued and that 

seems to be a big problem even with the police commanders said it would assist them, it had 

previously where you could call on police reservists to also, you know, prop up their service 

and support their service. 

MR TAIT:   Ja.  No, I didn’t engage with that at all. 

MR ARENDSE:  You also did not in your paper highlight or draw any distinction between the 

national instructions which deal with sector policing, the one of 2009 and the one of 2013, the 

more recent one. 

MR TAIT:   No, I simply tried to illustrate the point in terms of the potential I thought that 

sectors had and sector profile had if taken forward and developed into plans that could be then 

followed. 

MR ARENDSE:  But perhaps I could refer you, given my time constraints, perhaps I can refer 

you to pages 14 to 20 of Dr Burger’s paper that he made available to the Commission. 

MR TAIT:   Thank you. 

MR ARENDSE:  Whose function is the allocation of resources?  Who is responsible in the 

police service for allocating resources? 

MR TAIT:   I don’t know, I presume its national office logistics. 

MR ARENDSE:  I think one must accept given the constitutional democracy we live in and 

given the tests that have been established by the Constitutional Court in looking at these 

matters that at the end of the day whoever is responsible for the allocation it must be still be 

done in accordance with the constitution and it should still comply with standards of rationality. 

I think that’s fairly given. 

MR TAIT:   Hm. 

MR ARENDSE:  Because, you see, the difficulty that I had yesterday and that my clients had 

with Ms Redpath is it was – and whenever you asked her a sort of awkward question then she 

didn’t get the information or it was either hidden from her or kept from her or she just doesn’t 

have it.  She didn’t make an overall analysis of the allocation of police throughout the country 

and as you know policing is a national competence, but you’re not able to comment on that.  

MR TAIT:   No. 

MR ARENDSE:  Because I think at first glance it’s a comment that the Commissioner presiding 

made about because it’s – you don’t need to be a rocket scientist to see that the allocation, if 

you look at our townships, black and coloured, and you compare it with the advantaged 

formally all-white areas where a lot of the black and middle and upper classes now live, 

Wynberg, Rondebosch, Camps Bay, Claremont and so on, you can see they are relatively 

better resourced than our township stations.  Was that also your observation?   

MR TAIT:   All I can comment on is the statistics that I happen to see from the presentation 

that Ms Redpath made and the discrepancies between resources allocation, for example, in 

Camps Bay and Khayelitsha. 

MR ARENDSE:  Thank you. 



NO FURTHER QUESTIONS BY MR ARENDSE 

COMMISSIONER:   Thank you, Mr Arendse.  Mr Bishop, any questions in re-examination? 

RE-EXAMINATION BY MR BISHOP:   Just a few, Commissioner, I’ll be a quick as possible.  

Firstly, I’d just like to apologise to Mr Arendse of the issues around oversight which weren’t 

included in Mr Tait’s report, I thought given his expertise would be helpful to raise it with him, I 

felt that not (indistinct). 

MR ARENDSE:  No problem. 

COMMISSIONER:    I will say that it was something that the Commission raised with the Legal 

Resource Centre as well, we’re very grateful that you have been able to testify on that but 

given your expertise in the area it was an important area for us to cover.  Go ahead, Mr 

Bishop. 

MR ARENDSE:  Madame Commissioner, if I may just ask one question after Mr Bishop? 

COMMISSIONER:   Do you want to wait for afterwards or do you want to do it now? 

FURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR ARENDSE:  Maybe I should just ask.  Mr Tait, you 

have an impressive CV and as the coordinator of the African Policing Civilian Oversight Forum, 

where do we rank in Africa as far as democratic policing is concerned?     

MR TAIT:   In terms of the structures, the systems and the transparency we rank quite high.  

We are one of four countries at the moment that have a dedicated oversight facility that’s 

looking a policemen’s conduct. 

MR ARENDSE:  And I’m not asking – or maybe they’re related, so I shouldn’t ask you but let 

me ask you anyway, how do we feature globally? 

MR TAIT:   I’ve never done an index like that, I think it would be an interesting exercise, but I 

would presume that there’s some agencies that have far more transparency, openness, less of 

a record of misconduct in criminality (indistinct – dropping voice). 

MR ARENDSE:  It seems to me though and just for your comment that – sorry, I’m past – is 

that certainly our constitution is right up there as world class and our legislative framework 

certainly goes a long way towards if properly implemented, if properly resourced, I think we 

could be right up there, would you agree with that? 

MR TAIT:   Yes. 

MR ARENDSE:  Thank you. 

NO FURTHER QUESTIONS BY MR ARENDSE 

RE-EXAMINATION BY MR BISHOP:  Thank you, Commissioner, would you say that the 

difficulties around arrests, unnecessary arrests and lengthy detention affect the relationship 

between the police and the community? 

MR TAIT:   Yes. 

MR BISHOP:   Negatively? 

MR TAIT:   Negatively, ja. 

MR BISHOP:   In your report you referred to draft guidelines, that you’d been involved in 

drafting for the African Commission around arrest and detention.  Could you just quickly 

describe what those guidelines seek to address and what their current status is? 



MR TAIT:   The guidelines seek to promote rights-based approach to arrest, police custody 

and conditions of pre-trial detention in Africa.  They cover the process from arrest through to 

detention ensuring and looking at issues around procedure and conditions highlighting areas 

specific to women, children, vulnerable groups and access.  They were adopted by the African 

Commission last week. 

MR BISHOP:   So they were adopted and so they’re now an official Commission guidelines? 

MR TAIT:   They are official Commission guidelines and the Commission is now going to be 

using them to engage in its analysis of state reporting in extent to which states are applying 

African Charter on Human and People’s Rights.   

MR BISHOP:   And so they represent a best practice sort of…? 

MR TAIT:   They represent a rights-based approach to – rather than the practice but what 

should be in place to ensure that the rights of persons’ engagement with the police are 

respected. 

MR BISHOP:  You know, Mr Arendse spoke about the intentions of the station commanders 

but leaving that aside now, would you say on the evidence that you have seen, I know you 

haven’t seen the testimony of the station commanders but you’ve seen the sector plans and 

some of the evidence around CPFs, would you say that the CPFs and sector forums are 

operating efficiently in Khayelitsha?  

MR TAIT:   No.   I think there’s a lot more that can be done. 

MR BISHOP: And as I understood some of your responses to Mr Arendse that wouldn’t 

necessarily significantly more resources?  It would be if there are things that can be done 

without resources to improve the functioning of the CPFs and the sector forums? 

MR TAIT:   It would require the investment of station management into making those forums 

more functional and working, so that would be the resource investment.   

MR BISHOP: And if that was done would that improve the quality of policing and the 

relationship between the police and the community in your view? 

MR TAIT:   I would think so, that would be far more focused and nuanced in terms of how 

we’re policing and our relationship with the communities would be far stronger. 

MR BISHOP: And there was some talk about CPFs being burden for the station commanders 

and would your – would it be fair to summarise your response to those questions as you can 

remove some of the administrative tasks from the station commander but that participation in 

the CPFs shouldn’t be seen as a burden but as a central role of the station commander?’ 

MR TAIT:   Yes. 

MR BISHOP: And Mr Arendse also mentioned imbizos, would it be fair to say that those are 

helpful but not a replacement for functioning CPFs and sector forums? 

MR TAIT:   Imbizos are helpful but certainly there are many spaces for engagement and you 

can’t rely on imbizo only. 

MR BISHOP: Thank you, Commissioner, I have no further questions. 

NO FURTHER QUESTIONS BY MR BISHOP 

MR PIKOLI:   I just to want to test an idea with you which is that of a framework or protocol for 



the exercise of civilian oversight of the police, this is in light of Section 206(3) of our 

constitution that provides for the monitoring of police conduct as well as overseeing the 

effectiveness and efficiency of the police.  Would you think such a protocol or framework if we 

were to have that will seek to prevent, you know, the overstepping whilst exercising this 

oversight function into the operational activities of the police in (indistinct) because clearly 

there is a tension that exists around this issue insofar as having to ask for reports? 

MR TAIT:   I think if I understand you correctly, Sir, a protocol which establishes the role, 

responsibilities, function and interaction between the parties in terms of ensuring a robust 

civilian oversight and provides the necessary safeguards and checks and balances certainly 

would perhaps improve the confidence that the parties have in the integrity of the system and 

their trust and potentially their willingness to work with the oversight and those agencies and 

the police.    

COMMISSIONER:   One of the senior police officers who testified here, Gen Jaftha, indicated 

that some kind of a memorandum of understanding around the role of DOCS at the provincial 

department under Section 206 would be helpful but maybe in fact that needs to be done 

nationally as to what the proper contents of monitoring and measurements are that the 

provincial departments need to avoid unnecessary conflict and contestation. 

MR TAIT:   I think so, ja. 

COMMISSIONER:   Good.  Well, thank you very much indeed for your evidence, Mr Tait, we’re 

grateful that you could accommodate a shift at late notice from yesterday to today, it’s been 

very helpful.  Thank you, you may now stand down. 

WITNESS EXCUSED 

 


